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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COMPLAINT — CLASS ACTION

NOTICE

You have been sued in court. If you wish to defend
against the claims set forth in the following pages, you
must take action within twenty (20) days after the
complaint and notice are served, by entering a written
appearance personally or by attorney and filing in
writing with the court your defenses or objections to the
claims set forth against you. You are warned that if you
fail to do so the case may proceed without you and a
judgment may be entered against you by the court
without further notice for any money claimed in the
complaint or for any other claim or relief requested by
the plaintiff. You may lose money or property or other
rights important to you.

YOU SHOULD TAKE THIS PAPER TO YOUR
LAWYER AT ONCE. IF YOU DO NOT HAVE A
LAWYER OR CANNOT AFFORD ONE, GO TO OR
TELEPHONE THE OFFICE SET FORTH BELOW TO
FIND OUT WHERE YOU CAN GET LEGAL HELP.

PHILADELPHIA BAR ASSOCIATION

Lawyer Referral and Information Service

1101 Market Street, 11th Floor

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107

(215) 238-1701

AVISO
“Le han demandado a usted en la corte. Si usted quiere
defenderse de estas demandas expuestas en las paginas
siguientes, usted tiene veinte (20) dias de plazo al partir

de la fecha de la demanda y la notification. Hace falta
asentar una comparencia escrita o en persona o con un
abogado y entregar a la corte en forma escrita sus
defenses o sus objeciones a las demandas en contra de
su persona. Sea avisado que si usted no se defiende, la
corte tomara medidas y puede continuar la demandaen
contra suya sin previo aviso o notificacion. Ademas, la
corte puede decidira favor del demandante y require que
usted cumplacon todas las provisiones de esta demanda.
Usted puede perder dinero o sus propriedades u otros
derechos importantes para usted.

LLEVE ESTA DEMANDA A UN ABOGADO
INMEDIATA-MENTE SI NO TIENEABOGADO O Sl
NO TIENE EL DINERO SUFFICIENTE DE PAGAR
TAL SERVICIO, VAYA EN PERSONA O LLAME
POR TELEFONOA LA OFFICINA CUYA
DIRECCION SE ENCUENTRA ESCRITA ABAJO
PARA AVERIGUAR DONDE SE PUEDE
CONSEGUIR ASISTENCIA LEGAL.

ASSOCIACION DE LICENCIADOS DE

FILADELFIA

Servicio De Referencia E Informacion Legal

1101 Market Street, 11th Floor

Filadelfia, Pennsylvania 19107, (215) 238-170
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Benjamin McKey (“Plaintiff” or “Mr. McKey”) brings this Class Action Complaint against
TenantReports.com, LLC, (“Defendant” or “TenantReports”), on behalf of himself and the Class
set forth below:

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a class action for violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA™), 15
U.S.C. 8 1681, et seq., against a consumer reporting agency that reports adverse information that
is older than the seven years allowed by statute.

2. Defendant is a consumer reporting agency that compiles and maintains files on
consumers on a nationwide basis. It sells consumer reports generated from its database and
furnishes these consumer reports to landlords who use the reports to make rental decisions.

3. Defendant’s report to Plaintiff’s prospective landlord included numerous criminal
charges that had been dismissed more than seven years previously. This reporting was in clear
violation of the FCRA, which prohibits reporting adverse non-conviction information older than
seven years.

4. Defendant’s unlawful reporting could have been easily avoided had Defendant
instituted basic electronic filters to remove outdated information from its reports. Such filters are
standard in the industry. However, Defendant failed to do so.

5. Defendant committed these violations pursuant to its standard policies and
procedures which harm consumers seeking housing by prejudicing their prospective landlords with
outdated and non-reportable information.

6. Defendant’s illegal reporting harmed Plaintiff’s rental prospects, causing him
concrete monetary harm. This reporting also invaded Plaintiff’s privacy and damaged his

reputation.
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7. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff brings claims for Defendant’s
reporting adverse information older than seven years in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a).

8. Because Defendant’s violations arose from its standard policies, practices, and
procedures, Plaintiff brings his claim on behalf of a proposed Class.

9. This class action seeks statutory and punitive damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees
for Plaintiff and the Class against Defendant for its willful violations of the FCRA, by improperly
including outdated adverse information on the reports it issued regarding Plaintiff and members of
the Class.

THE PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Benjamin McKey (“Plaintiff” or “Mr. McKey”) is a natural person who
lives in Burlington, New Jersey, and is a “consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. §
1681a(c).

11. Defendant TenantReports.com, LLC is a Pennsylvania corporation doing business
throughout the United States, including in Pennsylvania, and has a principal place of business in
Secane, Pennsylvania.

12.  Among other things, Defendant sells background checks to landlords for their use
in deciding whether to offer rental opportunities to prospective tenants. These reports are provided
in connection with a business transaction initiated by the consumer.

13. Defendant is a consumer reporting agency as defined at 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f)
because for monetary fees, it regularly engages in the practice of evaluating and/or assembling
information on consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third parties.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
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14.  The Courts of Common Pleas of the Commonwealth are endowed with full
authority as provided by law, which extends to causes of action arising under federal law. 42 Pa.
C.S.A. §931.

15.  The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant.

16.  Venue in this Court is proper under Penn. Rules of Civ. P. 1006 and 2179 because
Defendant regularly conducts business in Philadelphia County.

BACKGROUND

17. The FCRA was enacted based on Congress’s findings that “[c]lonsumer reporting
agencies have assumed a vital role in assembling and evaluating consumer credit and other
information on consumers” and that there is a “need to ensure that consumer reporting agencies
exercise their grave responsibilities with fairness, impartiality, and a respect for the consumer’s
right to privacy.” 15 U.S.C. 8 1681. Thus, the FCRA requires consumer reporting agencies to
operate “in a manner which is fair and equitable to the consumer, with regard to the confidentiality,
accuracy, relevancy, and proper utilization of such information.” 1d.

18.  To ensure that consumer reporting agencies report information in a manner which
is “fair and equitable to the consumer,” and “with regard to the confidentiality, accuracy,
relevancy, and proper utilization of such information,” the FCRA prohibits consumer reporting
agencies from reporting old information. Specifically, agencies are forbidden from reporting
“[A]ny [] adverse item of information, other than records of convictions of crimes which antedates
the report by more than seven years.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a).

19. Defendant systematically and purposefully disregards its “grave responsibilities”
by routinely reporting outdated adverse information on consumers in violation of the FCRA.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO PLAINTIFF
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20. In or around November 2021, Plaintiff applied for rental housing with Bienvenue
Condominiums in Burlington, New Jersey. In connection with that application, Plaintiff’s
prospective landlord purchased a consumer report about Plaintiff from Defendant on or around
November 25, 2021.

21.  The report Defendant provided to Plaintiff’s prospective landlord included seven
felony counts from Burlington County, New Jersey which had been dismissed on the prosecution’s
motion on May 25, 2007.

22.  Defendant’s reports also included three charges from 2007 which had been
dismissed pursuant to a plea bargain agreement on a different charge.

23.  All ten of the entries referenced above were non-convictions which predated the
report by more than seven years.

24.  Plaintiff’s rental application was not successful due to Defendant’s reporting.

36. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered concrete financial harm
arising from loss and delay of rental opportunities, out-of-pocket expenses and time lost attempting
to dispute Defendant’s reporting, harm to reputation, and invasion of privacy.

Defendant’s lllegal Practices

Defendant’s Reporting of Outdated Adverse Information
37.  When a consumer reporting agency furnishes a consumer report, the agency is
required to exclude adverse items of information which antedate the consumer report by more than
seven years. 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a)(5).
38.  Defendant’s practice of including non-convictions older than seven years on reports
violates a fundamental protection afforded to consumers under the FCRA, is contrary to the

unambiguous language of the statute, and is counter to longstanding judicial and regulatory
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guidance. See, e.g., FTC, Forty Years of Experience with the Fair Credit Reporting Act, An FTC
Staff Report with Summary of Interpretations, July 2011, at 55 (“Even if no specific adverse item
is reported, a CRA may not furnish a consumer report referencing the existence of adverse
information that predates the times set forth in this subsection.”); Serrano v. Sterling Testing
Systems, Inc., 557 F. Supp. 2d 688 (E.D. Pa. 2008) (holding FCRA prohibits even alluding to
existence of unreportable adverse information).

39.  Defendant’s consumer reports are produced in an automated fashion from
electronic databases.

40.  As part of the process of assembling consumer reports, Defendant’s databases
utilize a variety of algorithms that, for example, seek to match the information reported to the
consumer who is the subject of the report.

41. It is standard practice for consumer reporting agencies to write algorithms to filter
out obsolete credit and criminal information.

42. Defendant, consistent with standard industry practices, could have easily written an
algorithm to ensure that all of its reports would exclude non-convictions older than seven years.

43. It is standard in the consumer reporting industry for consumer reporting agencies
to have a purge date for information in their system that has become outdated. See Gillespie v.
Trans Union Corp., 482 F.3d 907, 908 (7th Cir. 2007). Yet, Defendant failed to implement a purge
date in its systems.

44, In addition to failing to implement automated procedures to avoid statutory
violations, Defendant also failed to have the report properly reviewed by an individual who was

trained in the FCRA, and specifically, in the requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1681c. Had Defendant
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had a properly trained individual review this report, these problems would have been easily
detected, as they are apparent from the face of the report.

45, By failing to utilize appropriate algorithms, purge dates, or manual review,
Defendant’s practices and procedures for excluding adverse information older than seven years
fell far below industry standards and constitute knowing and reckless disregard for Defendant’s
statutory obligations.

46. Congress has made a policy determination that adverse information older than
seven years should not be provided by consumer reporting agencies. 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a). By
failing to provide consumers with the “fresh start” mandated by Congress, Defendant did concrete
harm.

47. By reporting outdated adverse information which Congress has deemed
unreportable, Defendant also invaded consumers’ privacy. This invasion of privacy was a concrete
harm. In passing 15 U.S.C. § 1681c, Congress recognized a privacy right that is attached to old
information, even information that exists in public records. The connection between forbidding
the reporting of old information and protecting consumers’ privacy rights is well-established. See
King v. General Information Services Inc., No. 2:10-cv-06850, ECF No. 52 at 14 (E.D. Pa.) (Brief
of the United States, arguing that “Section 1681c’s restrictions on disclosing older adverse
information serve the governmental interest in protecting individuals’ privacy.”).

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

48.  Plaintiff brings his Claim for Relief on behalf of himself individually, and, pursuant
to Pa. R. Civ. P. 1701-16, on behalf of the Class, defined as follows:

All natural persons who: (1) were the subject of a consumer report furnished by

Defendant to a third party within the two years preceding the filing date of this

Complaint; (2) where such report contained at least one record of a criminal non-
conviction which predated the date the report was issued by seven years or more.
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49.  The Class satisfies the requirements of Pa. R. Civ. P. 1701-16.

50. Numerosity: The Class is so numerous that joinder of the claims of all class
members is impractical. Membership in the Class can be ascertained though Defendant’s records,
and where needed, public records.

51. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Law and Fact: Common

questions of law and fact exist as to all class members. These questions predominate over the
questions affecting only individual members. These common legal and factual questions include,
among other things: (a) whether Defendant reports adverse non-conviction information older than
seven years; (b) whether this conduct violated the FCRA; and (c) whether the violations were
willful, reckless, knowing, or intentionally committed in conscious disregard of the Plaintiff’s and
class members’ rights.

52.  Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of each class member and all
claims are based on the same facts and legal theories. Plaintiff, as every class member, alleges
violations of the same FCRA provision: 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a). The claims challenge Defendant’s
consumer reporting procedures and do not depend on any individualized facts. Plaintiff seeks
statutory and punitive damages, which are appropriate in circumstances like this one where injuries
are particularized and concrete, but difficult to quantify.

53.  Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the class members’ interests.
Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in handling actions involving unlawful practices against
consumers and class actions. Neither Plaintiff nor his counsel have any interests that might cause
them not to vigorously pursue this action. Plaintiff is aware of his responsibilities to the class
members and has accepted such responsibilities.

54.  Certification of the Class under Pa. R. Civ. P. 1701-16 is also appropriate in that:
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a. As alleged above, the questions of law or fact common to the class members
predominate over any questions affecting an individual member. Each of the common facts and
legal questions in the case overwhelm the more modest individual issues. The statutory and
punitive damages sought by each member are such that the individual prosecution would prove
burdensome and expensive given the complex and extensive litigation necessitated by Defendant’s
conduct.

b. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the controversy. Consumer claims generally are ideal for class treatment as they
involve many consumers who are unable to afford and bring such claims individually. Further,
most consumers affected by Defendant’s conduct are likely unaware of their rights under the law.
Individual litigation of the uniform issues in this case would be a waste of judicial resources. The
issues at the core of this case are class-wide and should be resolved at one time.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF
15U.S.C. §1681c(a)

Reporting Adverse Outdated Information
(On behalf of Plaintiff individually and on behalf of the Class)

55.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the allegations set forth above as if fully stated
herein.

56. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a) by reporting adverse non-conviction
information older than seven years on its consumer reports.

57.  The foregoing violations were negligent and/or willful. Defendant acted in
knowing or reckless disregard of its obligations and the rights of Plaintiff and the members of the
Class, under 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(a).

58.  Defendant’s violation was willful, rendering it liable for statutory and punitive

damages in an amount to be determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n.
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59.  Defendant’s conduct was willful because it was carried out in knowing or reckless
disregard for consumers’ rights under the FCRA. Defendant’s conduct was intentionally
accomplished through its intended procedures; these procedures have continued despite the fact
that other consumer reporting agencies have been subject to court decisions and consumer
complaints critical of similar conduct; and Defendant will continue to engage in this conduct
because it believes there is greater economic value in selling over-inclusive consumer than
engaging in the due diligence that would result in producing reports which comply with the FCRA.

60. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the members of the Class suffered
harm and injury including but not limited to denial of rental opportunities, invasion of privacy and
damage to reputation.

61. Plaintiff and the members of the Class are entitled to recover statutory damages,
punitive damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees from Defendant in an amount to be determined by the
Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §8 1681n and 16810.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class, prays for relief as follows:

a) Determining that this action may proceed as a class action under Pa. R. Civ. P. 1701-
16;

b) Designating Plaintiff as the representative for the Class;

c) Designating Plaintiff’s Counsel as counsel for the Class;

d) Issuing notice to the Class at Defendant’s expense;

e) Declaring that Defendant committed multiple, separate violations of the FCRA,;

f) Declaring that Defendant acted willfully and in deliberate or reckless disregard of the

rights of Plaintiff and the Class under the FCRA;
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g) Awarding actual and statutory damages as provided by the FCRA;

h) Awarding punitive damages as provided by the FCRA,;

1) Awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs and expenses, as provided by the FCRA,;
and

J) Granting further relief, in law or equity, as this Court may deem appropriate and just.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

62. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class, demands a trial by jury on all issues
triable by a jury.

Dated: April 8, 2022 [s/Shanon J. Carson
Shanon J. Carson, Bar No. 85957
BERGER MONTAGUE PC
1818 Market Street, Suite 3600
Philadelphia, PA 19103
T. 215-875-4656
F. 215-875-4604
scarson@bm.net

Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Putative
Classes
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DocuSign Envelope ID: A31E92BD-BB0D-478F-AF49-4CF26467D78D

VERIFICATION

I, Benjamin McKey, hereby state:
1. | am the plaintiff in this action;

2. | verify that the factual statements made in the accompanying complaint are true and correct
to the best of my knowledge and belief; and

3. | understand that the statements in the accompanying complaint are subject to the penalties
of 18 Pa. C.S. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsification to authorities.

DocuSigned by:

14/8/2022 (—%,_771/

~—DC107 (g?DFM)Z...

Benjamin ey

Date
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ClassAction.org

Thiscomplaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit
database and can be found in this post: TenantReports.com Illegally Includes

Outdated, Non-Conviction Info in Consumer Reports, Lawsuit Alleges



https://www.classaction.org/news/tenantreports-com-illegally-includes-outdated-non-conviction-info-in-consumer-reports-lawsuit-alleges
https://www.classaction.org/news/tenantreports-com-illegally-includes-outdated-non-conviction-info-in-consumer-reports-lawsuit-alleges



